

Exhibit C

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In re:

CAFE HOLDINGS CORP. *et al.*,¹

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 18-05837 (hb)

(Jointly Administered)

ORDER GRANTING DEBTORS' APPLICATION FOR ENTRY OF ORDER PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. §§ 105(a) AND 363(b) AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING ~~DEBTOR'S (I) DEBTORS'~~ RETENTION ~~AND EMPLOYMENT OF LOUGHLIN MANAGEMENT PARTNERS & CO., INC. AND (II) EMPLOYMENT OF TO PROVIDE~~ JOHN SORDILLO AS CHIEF RESTRUCTURING OFFICER ~~AND CERTAIN ADDITIONAL PERSONNEL NUNC PRO TUNC TO THE PETITION DATE~~

Upon the application (the “**Application**”) ² of the above-captioned debtors and debtors-in-possession (the “**Debtors**”), for entry of an order (the “**Order**”) ~~Pursuant~~pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 105(a) and 363(b) ~~Authorizing~~authorizing and ~~Approving~~approving the Debtors’ ~~(I) Retention~~retention and ~~Employment~~employment of Loughlin Management Partners & Co., Inc. ~~and (II) Employment of to provide~~ John Sordillo as Chief Restructuring Officer ~~Nunc Pro Tunc~~and certain additional personnel nunc pro tunc to the Petition Date; and upon the Declaration of John Sordillo annexed thereto as **Exhibit A** and the First and Second Supplemental Declarations of John Sordillo filed thereafter; it appearing that the relief ~~request~~requested therein is in the best interests of the Debtors’ estates, its creditors and other parties in interest; and it appearing that the Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157 and 1334; and it appearing that this proceeding is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b); and it appearing that venue of this proceeding is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

¹ The Debtors in these cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: Cafe Holdings Corp. (7910); Cafe Enterprises, Inc. (4946); CE Sportz LLC (2009); and CES Gastonia LLC (0863). The location of the Debtors’ corporate headquarters is 4324 Wade Hampton Blvd., Suite B, Taylors, South Carolina 29687.

² All capitalized terms used but otherwise not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Application.

~~EXHIBIT B~~

§§ 1408 and 1409; and it appearing that notice of the Application was appropriate under the circumstances and that no other or further notice need be given; and after due deliberation and sufficient cause appearing therefore, it is HEREBY ORDERED:

1. The Application is granted *nunc pro tunc* to the Petition Date as set forth herein.
2. The Debtors are authorized, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 105(a) and 363(b), to retain Loughlin ~~and~~to provide Mr. Sordillo as Chief Restructuring Officer in these Chapter 11 cases in accordance with (and on the terms described in) the Application, the Engagement Letter, and this Order, and Loughlin is authorized to perform the services described therein; provided, however, that Loughlin will not perform services related to the preparation of information required by the Bankruptcy Court and bankruptcy proceedings, including the preparation of materials required for filing of first day orders, budgets, statements of financial affairs and related schedules.
3. The fees and expenses incurred by Loughlin in completion of its services under the Engagement Letter shall be treated as administrative expenses of the Debtors' Chapter 11 estates and paid in full by the Debtors ~~on a weekly basis~~ in the ordinary course of business; as provided herein.
4. ~~Loughlin shall file with the Court and provide notice of reports of compensation and expenses quarterly, or as required by any Compensation Procedures Order. Such reports shall (i) include the names and functions of the individuals assigned to this matter, (ii) include detailed time entries describing the task(s) performed recorded in one-half hour increments and organized by project category, and (iii) provide a time period for objections as to compensation previously paid. All compensation previously paid during such quarter will be subject to review by the Court in the event an objection is filed. Additionally, Loughlin shall file~~

~~with the Court and provide notice pursuant to any Compensation Procedures Order, monthly reports of staffing on the engagement for the previous month.~~ ~~5.~~ The Debtors are permitted to indemnify Mr. Sordillo, who is serving as Debtor's Chief Restructuring Officer, on the same terms as provided to the Debtors' other officers and directors under the Debtors' by-laws, certificates of incorporation, by contract or otherwise.

~~6.5.~~ The Debtors are permitted to indemnify Loughlin and its affiliates as set forth in the Engagement Letter.

~~7. The terms of the Engagement Letter are reasonable terms and conditions of employment and are hereby approved.~~ 6. The terms of the Engagement Letter, including without limitation, the fee provisions and the indemnification provisions, as modified by this Order, are reasonable terms and conditions of employment and are hereby approved; subject to the following terms, which apply notwithstanding anything in the Engagement Letter or the Application to the contrary:

~~8. If any supplemental declarations or affidavits are filed and served after the entry of this Order, absent any objections filed within twenty (20) days after the filing and service of such supplemental declarations or affidavits, Loughlin's employment shall continue as authorized pursuant to this Order.~~

(i) All requests by Indemnified Persons for the payment of indemnification, contribution or otherwise as set forth in the Engagement Letter during the pendency of these Chapter 11 cases shall be made by means of an application to the court and shall be subject to review by the court to ensure that payment of such indemnity conforms to the terms of the Engagement Letter and is reasonable under the circumstances of the litigation or settlement in respect of which indemnity is sought; provided that in no event shall any Indemnified Person be indemnified in the case of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct;

(ii) In the event an Indemnified Person seeks reimbursement from the Debtors for attorneys' fees and expenses in connection with the payment of an indemnity claim pursuant to the Engagement Letter, the invoices and supporting time

records from such attorneys shall be included in Loughlin's Monthly Statements (as defined below), and such invoices and time records shall be subject to any Compensation Procedures Order and the approval of the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to sections 330 and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code without regard to whether such attorneys have been retained under section 327 of the Bankruptcy Code and without regard to whether such attorneys' services satisfy section 330(a)(3)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code;

(iii) In the event the Debtors seek to have Loughlin personnel assume executive officer positions that are different than the positions disclosed in the Application, or to materially change the terms of the engagement by either (a) modifying the functions of personnel, (b) adding new executive officers, or (c) altering or expanding the scope of the engagement, a motion to modify the retention shall be filed;

(iv) No principal, employee or independent contractor of Loughlin and its affiliates shall serve as a director of any of the above-captioned Debtors during the pendency of the above-captioned cases;

(v) Loughlin shall file with the Court, and provide notice to the U.S. Trustee and the Committee, reports of compensation earned and expenses incurred on a monthly basis (the "Monthly Statements") in accordance with the Compensation Procedures Order. All compensation shall be subject to review by the Court in the event an objection is filed;

(vi) For a period of three (3) years after the conclusion of the engagement, neither Loughlin nor any of its affiliates shall make any investments in the Debtors, or any of the reorganized Debtors;

(vii) Loughlin shall disclose any and all facts that would reasonably be expected to have a bearing on whether Loughlin, its affiliates, and/or any individuals working on the engagement have any interest materially adverse to the interest of the Debtors' estates or of any class of creditors or equity security holders, by reason of any direct or indirect relationship to, connection with, or interest in, the Debtors, or for any other reason. The disclosure obligation set forth in this sub-paragraph is a continuing obligation.

7. Loughlin shall file with the Court (with copies to the required notice parties as set forth in the Compensation Procedures Order) a report of staffing and compensation on the engagement for the previous month. Such report shall include the names and functions filled of the individuals assigned, a summary chart that describes the compensation earned by each executive officer and staff employee and itemizes the expenses incurred for the relevant period.

and a time report indicating the time incurred (in hourly increments) on a daily basis and the general categories of service provided during such day. The Notice Parties shall have 21 days after the date each staffing report is served on the Notice Parties to object to such staffing report. In the event an objection is raised and not consensually resolved between the Debtors and the objecting party, all staffing and compensation shall be subject to review by the Court. No payments shall be made to Loughlin on account of the objected to portion of such staffing report until such objection is resolved by the parties or by further order of the Court.

8. To the extent there is any inconsistency between the terms of the Engagement Letter, the Application, and this Order, the terms of this Order shall govern.

9. The Debtors are authorized and empowered to take all actions necessary to implement the relief granted in this Order.

10. This Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to all matters arising from or related to the implementation or interpretation of this Order.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED.

Document comparison by Workshare Compare on Sunday, January 6, 2019 11:05:52 PM

Input:	
Document 1 ID	file://C:\Users\staabd\Box\Bankruptcy\Cafe Enterprises\1.8.2019 Hearing\4. Loughlin Retention\Redlines\Cafe Enterprises - Order Granting Application to Employ Loughlin and John Sordillo as CRO, 4810-8180-2618_4 (as filed with Application).docx
Description	Cafe Enterprises - Order Granting Application to Employ Loughlin and John Sordillo as CRO, 4810-8180-2618_4 (as filed with Application)
Document 2 ID	file://C:\Users\staabd\Box\Bankruptcy\Cafe Enterprises\1.8.2019 Hearing\4. Loughlin Retention\Redlines\Order Granting Loughlin CRO Application, 4820-0617-3826_4.docx
Description	Order Granting Loughlin CRO Application, 4820-0617-3826_4
Rendering set	standard

Legend:	
Insertion	
Deletion	
Moved from	
Moved to	
Style change	
Format change	
Moved deletion	
Inserted cell	
Deleted cell	
Moved cell	
Split/Merged cell	
Padding cell	

Statistics:	
	Count
Insertions	30
Deletions	22

Moved from	3
Moved to	3
Style change	0
Format changed	0
Total changes	58